Professor’s Note:  Below you will find excerpts from the record of the trial in Liesner  Don’t try to brief this material; it is not a judicial opinion. Instead, as you read through it, think about what story each side is trying to tell and what evidence is most helpful to each story.  Then think about whether you agree with the court’s conclusion that there was no issue for the jury to decide.  
Liesner v. Wanie 

Excerpts from Trial Record

Tenth Judicial Circuit, Shawano County, Wisconsin (1911)
Testimony Presented on behalf of the Plaintiffs

John Wanie (called as an adverse witness): I was home unloading poles, along came a wolf, Lutz was following him, and I went with him and followed him up. Lutz was on the road, asked me if I had a gun, said yes. He said he had buckshot, but had none with him. The dogs are bellowing up in the corner, and brought the wolf around and he run up the road, the wolf came back towards the place and headed towards the woods. Lutz came along pretty soon and shot four shots at the wolf down the road. Lutz told me to come along and I went with him. The wolf was coming from the North up the main road clear to my place and when Lutz shot at him he went back down the road again, about 80 rods*, and then turned West right through the woods. Lutz did not tell me he hit him but that he shot at him. I followed him nearly a half of a mile anyway. The dogs were right after him.

I shot the wolf in a brush pile with a 12 gauge gun. He was in the brush pile, it was a regular cedar swamp where the fire ran through. I was right up to the pile when I shot him, and he was right in the pile. … Lutz and I followed him along the road into the swamp. I came along [and] I seen, I heard the dogs bark in that woods where there was slashings down and I got within 40 or 60 rods where the dogs had him I could see the Liesner boys and Hove boys. Some of the timber had been taken away so I could see them. I was right on the edge of the swamp where the dogs had him and when I got even with them I went down to the edge where the dogs had him and passed by the boys and they never made a move to go after him and never said a word when I came past the boys and shot the wolf. Liesner boys and Hove boys were not stand​ing near the pile. I stuck my gun through the brush a little distance from his neck. The wolf was facing the dogs and was not looking at me when I shot he fell towards Kroening’s dog and he grabbed him by one side and the other dog on the other and seesawed back and forth. He was facing the dogs and I was right back of him and the wolf was be​tween the dog and me. One dog would take a grab at him and then the other dog would. He was watch​ing the dogs and he did not see me. The whole business there is a brush pile you might say, it is trees fallen down. I did not hear the Liesner boys do any shooting, nor did they say anything that they had shot at him. At the time I shot the wolf was sitting up, his forefeet standing up. 

The next day the father of the Liesner boys did not claim that they boys shot the Wolf but that they wounded him, and wanted me to whack up. When I skinned the wolf we cut holes in the skin in skinning him, we cut little bits of holes in skinning him about the size of a bullet. Liesner claimed there were bullet holes in the neck, he could not find any bullet in the carcass. When we examined the carcass, Liesner and my​self, the inwards were not all blood mixed with manure, you could see the guts in there all right, it was bloody, it looked like blood in there I said.

Frank Liesner: January 3rd, we was sawing wood, me and my younger brother, I am 18. Had 2 guns, 22 calibre rifles. Guns were loaded. We heard 2 hounds bark. A wolf came from the East. Wolf came out about 40 feet from us. First the wolf stood still, and we stood still. My brother shot, and the wolf jumped up in the air about 2 feet, and the wolf run off.  He always dragged his hind foot. He went over logs, he always dragged his hind legs over. We followed him. 

We could see where he went into the brush pile. About 40 rods he run before he went into the brush pile. The dogs got to the brush pile before we got there.  After he got into the brush pile I shot at him 3 times. The dogs were barking. The wolf was about 5 feet further in the brush pile than the dogs. I could see the head and shoulders, I aimed at the wolf. I could not tell whether I hit him or not. After I shot the third time, he crawled about two rods further. Then Wanie came and he shot. 

Wanie went into the other part of the brush pile. I was just going around to the other part to try and shoot again. After Wanie pulled the wolf out, I told him I shot the wolf. My brother also came up to the brush pile. My brother did not go on top of the brush pile. The Hove boys were there when I shot into the brush pile.

Cross-examination:  One of the Hove boys stood right side of me when I shot. He is a bigger boy. I was about 5 feet from the wolf. He is taller. I did not tell Peter Hove that I thought I saw the wolf. He stood right along side of me when I shot. When my brother shot at the wolf, Lutz was in the woods. Where this wolf was shot it is all fallen down trees, slashing and brush. While the wolf was running along he was running over this brush and slashing the 40 rods that he run, and on account of this slashing [Lutz] could not see him, and could not get a shot at him, had to ,run around in order to get another shot. A wolf runs pretty low like a fox. I could not get a chance to shoot him he run too low on the ground. The dogs were right after him. 

I am sure I told Wanie I shot the wolf when he pulled him out, also sure that I did not tell Peter Hove that I thought I saw the wolf when I shot at him in the brush pile.

Re-direct:  My brother’s shot was the first shot. I shot five times in all. While I was shooting the wolf was running. I don't know whether I hit him, that is the first time I ever shot at a wolf.

Ed. Leisner: January 3rd was cutting word with my brother in afternoon, had 2 guns, 22 calibre rifle, with 22 short shells. Heard dogs barking about 40 acres off. When about two or 3 rods saw a wolf come out about 40 feet. When the wolf came out we stood still. I did not shoot while the wolf was standing still. The wolf just turned around to go away. I aimed at his side, and when I shot the wolf jumped in the air then run off. He wiggled his hind part. Did not see him jump over any logs, I was loading my gun after he went off. I did not see the wolf after he went off from that place to the brush pile. My brother followed him, I stood side of the brush pile with my gun, I knew where to go by following Frank.


Cross-examination:  I am 16 years old, I never saw a wolf before in my life. The wolf and the dogs got into the brush pile before my brother got there. My brother was running, I was running right along following him up. I heard my brother tell Wanie that he had shot the wolf, Wanie, Lutz, Gus Johnson, and the Hove boys were there, and am sure my brother said that.

August Liesner: I am the father of the two boys. Talked with Wanie the next day. Wanie claimed the hide did not have a scar on it. He let me examine the hide, I found three holes in a row on the middle of the shoulders. Asked John how them holes come in; he said he had cut some in skinning, I found a hole at the paunch and I asked John where the carcass was. He said you cannot find a bullet in there 


Went to the chicken yard and got the carcass, could not find a bullet in there. Asked the boy where he shot the wolf and showed the side and found a piece of flesh pasted over, scratched it off and found a hole. Asked John to give the boys half; he said he had nothing to give away. I could see all blood mixed with manure.


Cross-examination:  The bullet did not go through the animal. I looked for the bullet, could not find any. I told him that. Wanie was free to let me look at the hide; did not hide it. 

Andrew Anderson: [H]ide and carcass was same at time he exhibited same to inspection to other people, as it was at time of the trial… Court. The carcass was froze, and at the stomach a hole was gouged out, done before it was replevied .

Chas. Gillmore: I am a saloon keeper, done lots of hunting. Hunted one wolf. Am familiar with kind of holes gun shots make. I examined the hide and carcass exhibited by Anderson….  2 or 3 [holes] I am sure were made with a 22. There was a hole through the kidneys, paunch or abdomen,  I am not sure whether the bullet went through, did not notice whether it came out of the other side. From the hole I saw, it was a serious wound, it looked kind of fatal. If the animal had been left there alone, it would not have lived. The one wound through the stomach I con​sider fatal; the others I don't know much about.

Cross-examination:  The carcass had been considerably mutilated. I. don't think the bullet went through the kidneys, [but] somewhere near around. The bullet did not touch the kidneys. I saw the carcass and it was bloodshot, around the abdomen and kidneys. The wound might have been made by something else besides a 22 rifle, but I doubt it. I think a deer is tougher than a wolf. I only killed one wolf. I never saw two animals act alike.

Dr. Royer: I made an examination of the hide and carcass…. I found two holes in the abdomen and several holes in the neck. I found extensive hemor​rhage in the carcass to correspond with holes in hide, around neck could not determine much. The carcass was frozen.. Found two holes in abdomen through the hide, nearly opposite to each other. Think they were caused by same bullet. Don't know much about gun; was a small gun not larger than 22. 

Tak​ing in extent the size of the animal, it was an extensive wound; it would not be in a horse or cow. It would cause peritonitis. I never had any experi​ence in bullet wounds of that kind, and do not think I could if a wound like that would cause an animals death, but to give my private opinion, they would be sick and act limp. I consider the wound in the abdomen mortal.

Cross-examination:  My experience is confined to horses and cows; I do not pretend to describe what a wolf will do after being shot. Sitting up is a position dogs take. I never hunted wolves; do not know anything about it.

Fred Opperman:  I am a farmer; besides farming I hunt and trap. I examined the hide and carcass last winter or spring. I found bullet hole in his belly. I saw more holes but cannot swear that they were bullet holes. The one in the belly I am satisfied was a bullet hole from a small gun, small bullet 22, looked to me as if it was a serious wound. I think it would kill it. If the wolf was shot at a distance of 40 feet, and. jumped in the air, did not run fast so a boy could follow him, and wiggle his hindquarters in running, crawled in a brush pile 40 rods away, never move around in the brush pile except to drag his hind quarter, let a hun​ter come within two or 3 feet of his head and shoot him in the neck without moving, would consider him mortally wounded.

Cross-examination:  I base my opinion because he was blood shot. I cannot answer the question whether it is strange or not for a wolf to face the dogs in a brush pile, and for a man to sneak up behind him and shoot him in the neck. I do not know whether this hole is from a 22; I should judge that size. It looks to me that a wolf shot this way would not live over 24 hours. When I examined the carcass, the carcass had been mutilated and the abdomen dug out and they had cut in there.

John Wanie (recalled as an adverse witness): The bullet hole through the back of the neck is a bullet hole made by my shot gun. 

At the close of the plaintiff’s’ evidence, the defendant moved for judgment in his favor “for the reason that the evidence of the plaintiff shows that the animal was not reduced to possession by him; neither was it so wounded as to [not] permit its escape and that the evidence on that shows conclusively that the possession was never acquired of the wolf by plain​tiff.”  The court denied the motion.

Testimony Presented on behalf of the Defendant
Albert Lutz: I was following the wolf on the 3rd day of Janu​ary last. Saw him thirty acres from my house, in the afternoon at one o'clock. The wolf was laying down. I heard the dogs bark, thought I would go and see, then when I came about twenty rods to wolf, he jumped up. When I first saw him, he was laying down on the top of Boerst's hill. I see him lying there a bit over an hour; it might have been longer. After he jumped up, he kept off the hounds for about 60 acres and then he laid down again, a little East of Wanie's corners, and then when I came down there then the wolf was in the fence corner and then the dogs was by Wanie's house. 

I was looking at the wolf for ten minutes, the wolf was lying down in Wanie's fence corner at the time. I hollered for Wanie, no​body heard me …, then the wolf jumped up and I shot at him four times, two times with buck shot and twice with fine shot:  number 12 buckshot. The first time the wolf was about l0 feet away and every time he gave a jump, I shot at him. I then saw Wanie in the yard, and I hollered here is a wolf and we got to get him and told him to bring his shotgun shells and he brought them and he went along. The dogs were after the wolf right along and we found him down in the swamp. 

We saw the Liesner.boys, they were standing there. The Lies​ner boys were just standing and looking at us, they did nothing that I could see to find the wolf. John Wanie went up to the brush pile, and there he was looking. He did not go only a little ways and he says I see the wolf, and then he jumped down, and he shot through there. I could see the wolf sitting up, one dog on each side of him. It was then that Wanie come up and shot the wolf, and I am sure that Wanie dragged the wolf out. The Liesner boys did not make any claim that they shot the wolf, they did not say any thing at all. They were there. We dragged the wolf out, put him on his shoulder and walked home. The Liesner boys said nothing.


Cross-examination:  I had a repeater shot gun. I think the buckshot is a little bigger than that exhibited…. The first time I shot it was with fine shot. Every jump he made I shot, could not tell whether I hit him. I saw John Wanie shoot the wolf. Before John Wanie shot the dogs did not have hold of the wolf; after he shot they grabbed the wolf. When Wanie shot, the barrel of the gun was in the neighborhood of three feet from the wolf. The wolf was standing on his front feet and sitting down behind.

Peter Hove: I live in the town of Lessor, was together with the Liesner boys. afterwards joined them in hunting the wolf. I went up to the brush pile with them, saw the oldest boy shoot. I did not see what he shot at. I was standing right side of him on the same brush pile and was looking in the direction where he shot. I was there myself to see the wolf but could not see anything he was shooting at. I see the Lies​ner boy shooting in the brush pile, a couple or three times. During none of the times did I see the wolf. Liesner when he shot said “I think I see him down there.” I looked in the direction he pointed but could not see him. I did not see the wolf at all until after John Wanie shot him. 


I joined the Liesner boys before they got to the pile, half way from where they shot the first time. I did not see the wolf at any time. I saw the dogs, I thought they were chasing rabbits. The dogs run along at a pretty fast gait. I met the Liesner boys where they claim they shot and went with them to the brush pile but did not see the wolf at all. The Liesner boys said nothing to Wanie after he shot the wolf. I was in a position to hear; we were all in a bunch, they said nothing. 


We were cutting wood on Wanie's land, heard no shooting, heard the dogs bark, that is the first that attracted our attention. 1 thought they were chasing rabbits, then I jumped on a stump and I see the dogs jump over a log and I went to work again. Then I see Frank Liesner come along, he was coming on a run. I asked him what he was running for. He called to me there is a wolf. Frank Liesner stopped a minute until I caught up with him, then we walked over to the brush pile. The brush pile was 20 rods if you. could walk straight from there, but we walked crooked, could not see the brush pile from there. Ed Liesner and my other brother came along, and the four of us walked to the brush pile. The dogs got there ahead of us. The dogs were panting so hard and once in a while gave a howl. I just heard them, did not see them, once in a while they moved around. I did not see the dogs when Frank Liesner shot. It was a large brush pile, brush in every direction. Liesner at no time shot in the direction where the wolf was afterwards killed. Liesner was 40 feet away from the brush pile stand​ing there looking at those fellows coming when Wa​nie come.

John Hove:I am a brother of Peter Hove. On the third day of January was cutting wood with him. I heard the dogs bark, my brother jumped on a stump and he says there are the dogs coming, and he thought they were chasing rabbits. We seen Frank Leisner coming. My brother asked him what he was doing, and he said there is a wolf over there, and we took our axes and went with him. We did not see the wolf un​til John Wanie pulled him out. Could not see through on account of the thick brush, and that is the reason my brother got on top of a stump when he heard the dogs. 


I went along to the brush pile. Frank and my brother went on the brush pile and Frank shot. When Wanie came along the oldest Leisner boy was doing nothing, we were all standing away from the brush pile. After Wanie shot the wolf I and the Liesner boys went to look at the wolf. I was right in there in the crowd and heard neither of the Lies​ner boys say that they shot the wolf. If they had said it, would have heard it. 


We followed the Leisner boys about 20 rods to the brush pile, but we had to go around and it was further. I did not see the dogs just heard them bark.

Cross-examination:  I only saw Frank Liesner shoot twice. I could not see the dogs in the brush pile, heard them some​times. I heard no shooting before I heard the dogs. I heard no shooting before Frank Liesner came by there.

Frank Kroening: I live in Angelica, my business is farming and hunting, I own hunting dogs. I remember … John Wanie shooting a wolf on the 3rd day of January, in the town of Lessor. I think it is the same wolf we chased. We was close to the town of Hartland there and that wolf stayed there, we knew he was in there three or four weeks So I went down to my neighbors, and I said you better come along, so he came along and we hunted in the swamp and then we de​cided we would not go any further and so we put the dogs in there and the dogs raised the wolf. 

A light snow had fallen and I could see him between the cedar and all at once I saw the wolf jump and I gave him a No. 8 buck shot, and I knew I shot him, and the dogs kept right on until the next morning. I know I hit him: unless I hit him, the dogs would not run all night…. I did not look for blood because I was looking for the wolf there. We started for where he used to be and we hit the town line. We went into the swamp and right across the town line there we lost him and did not go on that day and so I told John Olson we go after him another day. 

I know that was the wolf for I have not seen any wolf since that time. I hunted around in there. The day before I chased him with my dog alone, the next day I got Olson's dog, we had two dogs. I think I hit the wolf on the hind part from the left side. My dog stayed right with the wolf, and we heard the next morning as though he had just started. 

I heard Wanie had killed him, after he shot then we came back and the dogs came back. We did not go any further because we thought that somebody had killed him. Radtke and Olson was with me, and I thought it was of no use of the three of us to follow him, they was ahead of me and I dropped out, and they followed as far as they could. 

I have hunted wolves for years killed 3 in Shawano County, I have but seldom seen one killed easily; all the rest had a hard life, I have shot them through and through and shot both legs through and. hunted one last winter and we put 9 shots in him and it took us all day and night to get him. We hit him all over in the guts and everywhere else and we could not kill him. A wolf is as tough as any animal.

Cross-examination: … Chrisman told me on the road that Wanie had shot the wolf, that he was killed about an hour after. I told Chrisman at the time we was hunting the wolf and that two other boys were following him. I saw the wolf the day before about one o'clock, I was about 4 or 5 rods away from him, when I shot, I did not pay any particular attention; from where he was, I thought I could reach him pretty good. It was in a cedar swamp. There was a light fall of snow. By knock​ing off a little snow from the brush I could see him. I have got a double barrelled 12 gauge shot gun. I never tried the gun to see how it would scatter. The cedar swamp is pretty thick. I saw the wolf about 7 or 8 rods, I saw him 8 or 9 feet after I shot him, he was in the cedars again. When I shot he was on the ground shagging along at a fast trot. I did not look for blood. I expected he would lay down, there was a road there and I thought I would get another shot at him, this was about 2 miles from where he was finally killed. I cannot just tell what time in the afternoon I first heard he was killed. In the afternoon, I don't know what time I went about 80 rods to where they had the first fight, I saw where Olson and Radtke were ahead of me and I went back. 

This wolf looks just like the one I shot, I see the wolf here to day. There are never two wolves just alike. I can prove this is the same wolf I shot at because the dogs were after him, be​cause he came out of there I know one of my dogs were there at the finish because Olson and Radtke were right there and pretty close. Olson and Radtke did not go right to where he was shot but the dogs came back and they heard the shot. This wolf that was started by my dog was the one I shot at.

John Olson: I live in … Waukechon. In the summer I carpenter and hunt in winter. I have been hunting wolves about 11 years. I have killed 10 and my woman one. I owned a hound in January 1911. and heard of this particular wolf being killed by Wanie. I pursued the wolf prior to its being killed, I started the morning of the same day that it was killed. Mr. Kroening came after me 1l o'clock at night and told me he wanted my hound and wanted me to help, me and my dog, and I went the next morning, me and my dog and Kroening and his dog and Mr. Radtke. 

We started in the morning and of course we raised him. We raised him right in the swamp where Kroening said he was. We run him all the forenoon and he went across the Green Bay road towards the town of Lessor, the southeast corner of the Town of Hartland … and in the Town of Lessor, and Radtke and I followed him and heard Lutz shooting but I did not pay any attention to him because the dogs were on his tracks and after a while I heard the shot. Kroen​ing was not with us, Radtke and I followed him and Kroening was left on the runaway and of course he was back and I followed. He was with us in the morning in the swamp.

The three of us started to hunt together. We followed the wolf all forenoon. He went in a circle and a good many different kinds of circles and we was within the hearing of the dogs most all the time until the last thing. I heard a shot and my dog quit barking, and I says to Radtke “the jig is up”, and I want [to] go no further, and it was not long when my dog comes back, and I said I am afraid Wanie got the best of us. The wo!f run onto Wanie's land, I heard the timber where it is that they testified to yester​day, there is where we heard the shot, and I heard the dogs in that direction. I had a wolfhound. I heard one shot in the direction the dogs were bark​ing. The minute an animal is killed they stop bark​ing and begin … chewing and shaking. 

I shot a wolf once with a 32-40 and shot him through the abdomen about 3 o'clock in the afternoon, and I run him for two days and got left at that. I have shot them through the abdomen and get them the first shot. No two animals act alike, a shot through a wolf unless it strikes the heart is not necessarily fatal. You would not necessarily get a wolf by shooting him through the abdomen, unless you strike the back bone, some run a long distance after being hurt that way. 

While I and Radtke were following the wolf we found blood to show that the wolf had been wounded. I got down on the Green Bay road and went east on the Green bay road and I saw where my dog and Kroening's dog had caught the wolf. They were going through a wire fence and the wolf was so played out he could not get away and the dogs went after him and they fought over three rods square I seen where the blood stained the snow and there were a11 kinds of blood and fur. It was all tracked up with and covered with blood about 3 rods square. I have seen dogs so play out a wolf that he will go into a brush pile for refuge. This one was pretty well played out or the dogs would not have got him. This wolf must have had been wounded or he would not have bled, the blood could not have come any other way.

Cross-examination. We started the wolf in the neighborhood of 7 and 8 o'clock in the morning. While we were chasing him we never saw the wolf, we was away from him about one-half or three-fourths mile when we struck the track of the dogs and wolf. I saw blood; it could not have come from the dogs because they were not hurt anywhere, I examined them after…. I am an old hunter. I was certain the wolf had been killed when I told Radtke the jig was up, then when the dogs came back I then went up to where Kroening had his horse and Kroening and I went home. I did not go up to where the wolf was shot, we was within the neighborhood of a mile. 

A wolf bleeding on the inside will die, provid​ing all the blood runs out of his veins, sometimes dies faster than if the blood runs outside. I know my dogs would never abandon a wolf while it was daylight. There might be other wolves in the country. I know of a wolf chased three weeks later in the same neighborhood. We could always hear the dogs; if the wind was in our favor could hear 3 miles if not 80 rods. Mr. Kroening told me he had wounded him. Where the bullet goes in it makes a clean hole, it makes a bigger hole where it comes out. 
Q. (Witness shown the hide). You say you can determine by looking at the hide where the bullet went in and where it went out? 

A. Yes Sir. 

Q. Will you look at this hide, and look at these two holes and will you determine where the bullet went in and where it went out? 

A. The biggest hole here looks as if it was cut with a knife. 

Q. Look at these two holes and determine where the bullet went in and where it went out? 

A. That is not a bullet hole. I never shall swear that is a bullet hole. I do not know as anyone else can swear whether they are bullet holes or not. I have had 24 years experi​ence and will not lie about it. I have lots of times seen dogs bite a hole like a bullet hole, a little round hole like a bullet hole. A hole does not close up after a dogs teeth are out, it leaves a hole the same as other holes.

John Wanie (re-called):  When I shot this wolf, the wolf bled quite a bit. Neither of the Liesner boys said anything about hav​ing shot the wolf. I passed right by them. They were all there in a bunch they never said a word to me. When I shot the wolf, he was standing off the dogs, first one dog would make a grab and then the other dog. I had to wait a little for the dogs to fall back, so I would not shoot them. None of the dogs came near enough to take a hold until after I shot him and he fell towards Kroening's dogs.

Emil Radtke: … I was out hunting with Kroening and Olson on January 3. That fore​noon they was in the swamp, they started the wolf and I was down the road and the wolf crossed the road and went towards Wanie's, and it was probably a mile or probably two where the dogs had him caught. That was on Boerst's land. There was blood and hair around there and finally the wolf tried to get through the wire fence and went S. W. and started for Wanie's land and then I heard a shot and that was all. The dogs quit barking then. I heard the shot where the dogs were. That is the same wolf I saw where the dogs had a hold of him on Boerst's land. I heard Lutz testify yesterday and that is the direction the wolf took from Boerst's land, and that is the same direction the wolf took that we hunted. I saw blood at different places where we trailed the wolf. The wolf was followed by Olson and Kroening's hounds.


Cross-examination:  I could not say that was the same wolf.  Anyway, the dogs run him that way. I did not follow to the finish; the dogs came back. The reason we gave up the chase we heard the shots and the dogs quit bark​ing. I don't know just what Olson said, but he said it is no use going further the wolf is killed.

Gus Johnson:  I live in the Town of Hartland. I was cutting wood for John Wanie on the 3rd of January. I went back to work after dinner and I heard the dogs hol​lering. I went fast to get my ax. It was not clear where the hounds stopped, and then after a few min​utes I see John and Lutz coming, and I went along where the dogs was. I then saw the Liesner and the Hove boys. They was there before I got there then I walked towards where I heard the wolf and the boys was quite a ways off, and Wanie came and in two minutes was right in there. 

I could see the hounds where they stood one on one side and one on the other. It was all windfalls and stuff in there and I run there and looked in there, and Wanie went kind of back of the brush pile and I laid on top of that and Wanie stayed on the other side and waited for the dogs to get back a little and then I kind of looked in there but could not tell whether it was a wolf or coon and Wanie shot and he dropped and both of the dogs grabbed him. The Liesner boys were standing about 200 feet away from where the wolf was. 

The wolf was sitting up facing the dogs. You could see one make a grab at the wolf and then jump back and the other would make a grab and he sat there snap​ping at the dogs. He was backed up in the brush pile and kind of sitting down. After Wanie shot the wolf he pulled him out, the Liesner boys said noth​ing. Everything around there is kind of burned down, and nobody could have seen a wolf running, but I could hear the dogs.


Cross-examination: I am a hired man of Wanie's. I was there about a minute ahead of Wanie. I heard some shots in there, but could not tell where it was they was-shoot​ing in every direction. I could not tell how close Wanie came to the wolf when he shot, the brush pile is quite high.

Re-direct:  When Wanie shot him in the neck, the wolf bled as the blood was running right down my pants. 

Rebuttal Testimony on Behalf of the Plaintiffs

Chas. Gillmore (re-called): The bullet went in the right side. A 22 calibre rifle will go through the abdomen if it don't hit anything.

Cross-examination: The bullet did not hit anything. It would be a little larger where it came out.

Andrew Anderson (re-called): Never had any experience killing wolves, not much experience in hunting and skin​ning carcasses. It went in on the right side when turned around.

Cross-examination. The bullet did not strike anything, the hole where it come out would be a little larger where it come out, it shoves the meat through. When I ex​amined the frozen carcass, I could not find where any meat was shoved through. I examined the car​cass could not see only the hide.

Frank Liesner (re-called): I did not intend to quit hunting when I came to the brush pile.

Ed Liesner (re-called): When he came to the brush pile he intended to see if he could get the wolf.


Cross-examination:  Did not see the wolf in the brush pile, add never went onto the brush pile.

At the conclusion of the evidence, each side moved for directed verdict.

The Ruling of the Trial Court

I will direct a verdict in favor of the plaintiff. The … uncon​tradicted evidence shows in this case, that at the time the wolf entered into the brush pile where he was afterwards killed, he had been mortally wounded; the uncontradicted evidence also shows that the mortal wound was inflicted by shots which entered on the right side and came out the left side. The only shot that was fired that way is shown, by the uncontradicted evidence, to have been fired by one of the boys, I believe the younger boy. The man who first followed the wolf the day before, and who, it is claimed by, the defendant, inflicted this wound, had given up the, chase, given it up that day, went home and started out again next day and it was some considerable time before the wolf was finally killed. He gave up and went back where he came from.

As I understand it these plaintiffs took up the chase and pursued the wolf after the man, who it is claimed by the defendant inflicted the wound, had given up the chase. They followed the wolf after shooting at him some forty rods to the brush pile where he was eventually killed. After one of the boys had shot at the wolf two or three times in the brush pile the defendant appeared on the scene the wolf being at that time in such a condition that the defendant was able to get up to within two or three feet of the wolf before he fired the fatal shot. Under these circumstances I think it is clear that the plain​tiffs are entitled or were entitled to the wolf. 

The fact that they did not make any claim at that time is easily accounted for by the fact that they were mere boys, did not know what their rights were and were not in position to assert their rights. The defendant was a grown man and I suppose it was not necessary for them to assert their rights then and there and they did not have to. They could do that afterwards. … 
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS:  LIESNER v. WANIE  TRIAL

1.19. 
(a) The Liesners successfully argued that they had taken possession of the wolf by mortally wounding it without abandoning the chase.  What is the most helpful evidence supporting their position? 
(b) What arguments do you think Wanie’s attorney made about why the Liesners did not have possession?  What is the most helpful evidence supporting these arguments?

1.20. What is the best explanation you see for why the trial judge concluded there was no issue for the jury to decide?  Do you agree?  Why nor why not?

1.21. Why do you think the Liesner family chose to bring this lawsuit?  Why do you think Wanie expended the resources needed to take the case to the state Supreme Court?

1.22. The trial record contains lots of information that you did not find in the Supreme Court’s opinion. How should this information affect the arguments you make based on the opinion? 

3.  Capture Using Traps & Some Basic Economics

COMPARISON BOX #2

  
State v. Shaw is the only criminal case we will read in Elements.  Here are some comparisons between criminal cases and the civil cases that constitute most of your subject matter in the first semester.  

	
	Criminal Cases
	Civil Cases

	How Case Starts
	Indictment (by Grand Jury) or Information (by Prosecutor)
	Complaint 

	Initiated by …
	State or Federal Government Prosecutor
	Plaintiff; may be private individual, business entity or government body. (Can be more than one).

	Filed Against …
	Defendant; may be private individual or business entity.  (Can be more than one).
	Defendant; may be private individual, business entity or government body. (Can be more than one).

	Remedy Sought
	Generally incarceration and/or fines.
	Generally monetary damages and/or equitable relief (such as an injunction)

	Jury Required?
	Generally, if six months or more incarceration at issue (see cases interpreting Sixth Amendment)
	In certain types of federal cases; no federal requirements re state cases (see cases interpreting Seventh Amendment)

	Standard of Proof
	“Beyond a Reasonable Doubt”
	Usually “Preponderance of the Evidence.”  Certain types of claims such as fraud or adverse possession may require “Clear and Convincing Evidence.”

	Intent Requirement
	Proof of some form of bad intent required for most crimes.
	Varies with cause of action. 

	Applicable Rules of Evidence
	Federal Rules or State equivalents
	Federal Rules or State equivalents

	Federal Right to Counsel
	Yes (See Sixth Amendment)
	No


	
	Criminal Cases
	Civil Cases

	Cases Filed in Florida State Trial Cts (FY2010-11)
	196, 453
	*293,415 

	% Cases Tried in 

Florida State Trial Cts (FY2010-11)
	2.0% (Jury) + 0.2% (Non-Jury)
	*0.2% (Jury) + 0.2% (Non-Jury)

	State Cases Filed in Miami-Dade  (FY2010-11)
	21,074
	*48,746

	State Jury Trials in Miami-Dade
	351
	*208


* Does not include Family or Probate Court
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State v. Shaw
67 Ohio St. 157, 65 N.E. 877 (1902)

The defendants in error were indicted in Lake county for the crime of grand larceny.  The indictment is as follows:

In the court of common pleas of Lake county, Ohio, of the term of May, in the year of our Lord one thousand nine hundred and one.

The jurors of the grand jury of the state of Ohio, within and for the body of the county of Lake, duly impaneled, sworn and charged to inquire of crimes and offenses committed within the said county of Lake, in the name and by the authority of the state of Ohio, upon their oaths do find and present, that Henry Shaw, John Thomas and James Postine, late of said county, on the fifteenth day of May, in the year of our Lord one thousand nine hundred and one, with force and arms, in said county of Lake and state of Ohio, unlawfully and feloniously did steal, take and carry away seven hundred and thirty pounds of fish, of the value of forty-one dollars, of the personal property of Morris E. Grow and John Hough, partners as Grow and Hough, contrary to the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the state of Ohio.


One of the defendants, John Thomas, was tried separately.  [At] the trial, no evidence was offered by the defendant.  The evidence offered by the state disclosed that on the morning of May 15, 1901, about 5 or 6 o'clock, a small sail-boat was discovered two or three miles off Fairport harbor; a tug ran out and overhauled this boat and discovered they had fish on board.  In reply to an inquiry where they had got the fish, they said near Cleveland out of a trap net.  They were asked to come to the harbor with the tug, and refused; two other tugs came to the assistance of the one already there, and brought in the defendants, with their boat, and they were arrested.  It is in evidence that on the way in, the defendant, John Thomas, said that “they lifted two pound nets west of the pier and got the fish.”  The testimony further tended to show that the two pound nets belonged to Grow and Hough, the parties named in the indictment, and that the defendants had taken from these two nets somewhere from 100 to 150 pounds of fish, each.  It also appears that the construction of these pound nets is such that the entrance to the net was about thirty-five feet deep, eight rods long, and terminated in an aperture leading into the net which was two feet and ten inches in diameter.  This tunnel, as it is called, extended into the net, or pot, some five or six feet, and the pot was about twenty-eight feet square, reaching, perhaps, four feet above the water.  The evidence shows that the opening of the tunnel into the pot was the place where the fish entered, and that it was at all times left open.  There is no evidence as to the quantity of fish escaping from the nets; it simply appears that it was possible for the fish to go out in the same way they got in.  It was also in evidence that these nets were frequently disturbed by wind and storm, and at such times so disordered that fish escaped over the top.  When the state had rested its case the defendant, Thomas, moved the court to arrest the testimony from the jury and direct a verdict of not guilty.  The court overruled this motion, but after argument did direct a verdict of not guilty, which was returned by the jury, and to which the state excepted.  ...

DAVIS, J. :  Fish are ferae naturae; yet, 

where the animals or other creatures are not domestic, but are ferae naturae, larceny may, notwithstanding, be committed of them, if they are fit for food of man and dead, reclaimed (and known to be so) or confined.  Thus ... fish in a tank or net, or as it seems in any other enclosed place which is private property, and where they may be taken at any time at the pleasure of the owner ... the taking of them with felonious intent will be larceny. 

2 Russ. Cr. 83.  “Fish confined in a tank or net are sufficiently secured.”  2 Bishop Cr. Law, section 775.


The trial judge seems to have directed the jury to return a verdict of “not guilty” on the theory that the fish must have been confined so that there was absolutely no possibility of escape.  We think that this doctrine is both unnecessarily technical and erroneous.  For example, bees in a hive may be the subject of larceny, yet it is possible for the bees to leave the hive by the same place at which they entered.  To acquire a property right in animals ferae naturae, the pursuer must bring them into his power and control, and so maintain his control as to show that he does not intend to abandon them again to the world at large.  When he has confined them within his own private enclosure where he may subject them to his own use at his pleasure, and maintains reasonable precautions to prevent escape, they are so impressed with his proprietorship that a felonious taking of them from his enclosure, whether trap, cage, park, net, or whatever it may be, will be larceny.  For such cases, as is clearly shown by the authorities above quoted, the law does not require absolute security against the possibility of escape....  Young v. Hichens, 6 Q.B. 606 is not applicable to this case.  That was an action for the conversion of fish which were never in the plaintiff’s net, but had been frightened away from entering into the plaintiff’s net by the defendant and caught in his own net.

In the present case the fish were not at large in Lake Erie.  They were confined in nets, from which it was not absolutely impossible for them to escape, yet it was practically so impossible; for it seems that under ordinary circumstances few, if any, of the fish escape.  The fish that were taken had not escaped, and it does not appear that they would have escaped, or even that they probably would have escaped.  They were so safely secured that the owners of the nets could have taken them out of the water at will as readily as the defendants did.  The possession of the owners of the nets was so complete and certain that the defendants went to the nets and raised them with absolute assurance that they could get the fish that were in them.  We think, therefore, that the owners of the nets, having captured and confined the fish, had acquired such a property in them that the taking of them was larceny.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS:  STATE v. SHAW 
1.23. What arguments could you make from the language of the Pierson majority about whether the net-owners had property rights in the fish in the net?   From policies that underlie Pierson?  
1.24. Given that the Pierson majority rejected the dissent’s position, would there be any way to have used the dissent to make arguments in Shaw?  Assuming that the answer is yes, what arguments could you have made from the Pierson dissent about the issue in Shaw?

1.25. What arguments can you make from Liesner about the issue in Shaw? 

1.26. Assume Shaw was the only relevant precedent in your jurisdiction.  What arguments could you make about who gets property on the facts of Pierson?  On the facts of Liesner? 

1.27. Should the result in Shaw be the same if the fishermen used a sunken boat instead of a net to trap the fish?  Assume the boat retains the same percentage of fish that enter it as the net in Shaw.

1.28. Can you frame a single rule that makes sense of the results in Pierson, Liesner, and Shaw?  Can you defend your rule in terms of the policies we have identified as important in this area?
1.29.  Assume that we are in a world where the net-owners have no enforceable rights in fish caught in their nets until they physically remove the fish from the nets.   As in Shaw, Thomas chooses to take fish from the owners’ nets.  
(a) Who is affected by this decision?  Which of these effects is Thomas likely to consider before deciding whether to take fish from the net?  
(b) If the fish are worth more to the net-owners than to Thomas, presumably there is some amount of money they could contract to pay him to leave the fish alone that would leave all parties better off than before the contract.  What obstacles stand in the way of the parties entering this contract?
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Harold Demsetz, Toward a Theory of Property Rights
57 Am.Econ.Rev. 347-357 (1967)


In the world of Robinson Crusoe property rights play no role.  Property rights are an instrument of society and derive their significance from the fact that they help a man form those expectations which he can reasonably hold in his dealings with others.  These expectations find expression in the laws, customs, and mores of a society.  An owner of property rights possesses the consent of fellowman to allow him to act in particular ways.  An owner expects the community to prevent others from interfering with his actions, provided that these actions are not prohibited in the specifications of his rights.


It is important to note that property rights convey the right to benefit or harm oneself or others.  Harming a competitor by producing superior products may be permitted, while shooting him may not.  A man may be permitted to benefit himself by shooting an intruder but be prohibited from selling below a price floor.  It is clear, then, that property rights specify how persons may be benefited and harmed, and, therefore, who must pay whom to modify the actions taken by persons.  The recognition of this leads easily to the close relationship between property rights and externalities.

Externality is an ambiguous concept.  For the purposes of this paper, the concept includes external costs, external benefits, and pecuniary as well as nonpecuniary externalities.  No harmful or beneficial effect is external to the world.  Some person or persons always suffer or enjoy these effects.  What converts a harmful or beneficial effect into an externality is that the cost of bringing the effect to bear on the decisions of one or more of the interacting persons is too high to make it worthwhile, and this is what the term shall mean here.  “Internalizing” such effects refers to a process, usually a change in property rights, that enables these effects to bear (in greater degree) on all interacting persons. A primary function of property rights is that of guiding incentives to achieve a greater internalization of externalities.  ...

The Emergence of Property Rights [“First Thesis”].  If the main allocative function of property rights is the internalization of beneficial and harmful effects, then the emergence of property rights can be understood best by their association with the emergence of new or different beneficial and harmful effects. ...  New techniques, new ways of doing the same things, and doing new things — all invoke harmful and beneficial effects to which society has not been accustomed.  It is my thesis in this part of the paper that the emergence of new property rights takes place in response to the desires of the interacting persons for adjustment to new benefit-cost possibilities.  

The thesis can be restated in a slightly different fashion: property rights develop to internalize externalities when the gains of internalization become larger than the cost of internalization.  ...  I do not mean to assert or to deny that the adjustments in property rights which take place need be the result of a conscious endeavor to cope with new externality problems.  These adjustments have arisen in Western societies largely as a result of gradual changes in social mores and in common law precedents.  At each step of this adjustment process, it is unlikely that externalities per se were consciously related to the issue being resolved.  These legal and moral experiments may be hit-and-miss procedures to some extent but in a society that weights the achievement of efficiency heavily, their viability in the long run will depend on how well they modify behavior to accommodate to the externalities associated with important changes in technology or market values.


A rigorous test of this assertion will require extensive and detailed empirical work… . In this part of the discussion, I shall present one group of such examples in some detail.  They deal with the development of private property rights in land among American Indians… .


The question of private ownership of land among aboriginals has held a fascination for anthropologists. ... What appears to be accepted as a classic treatment ... is Eleanor Leacock’s memoir on The Montagnes “Hunting Territory” and the Fur Trade.  Leacock’s research followed that of Frank G. Speck who had discovered that the Indians of the Labrador Peninsula had a long-established tradition of property in land.  This finding was at odds with what was known about the Indians of the American Southwest and it prompted Leacock’s study of the Montagnes who inhabited large regions around Quebec. ... 


Leacock clearly established the fact that a close relationship existed, both historically and geographically, between the development of private rights in land and the development of the commercial fur trade. ...  The factual material uncovered by Speck and Leacock fits the thesis of this paper well, and in doing so, it reveals clearly the role played by property right adjustments in taking account of what economists have often cited as an example of an externality — the overhunting of game.


Because of the lack of control over hunting by others, it is in no person’s interest to invest in increasing or maintaining the stock of game.  Overly intensive hunting takes place.  Thus a successful hunt is viewed as imposing external costs on subsequent hunters — costs that are not taken into account fully in the determination of the extent of hunting and of animal husbandry.


Before the fur trade became established, hunting was carried on primarily for purposes of food and the relatively few furs that were required for the hunter’s family.  The externality was clearly present.  Hunting could be practiced freely and was carried on without assessing its impact on other hunters.  But these external effects were of such small significance that it did not pay for anyone to take them into account.  There did not exist anything resembling private ownership in land. . . .


We may safely surmise that the advent of the fur trade had two immediate consequences.  First, the value of furs to the Indians was increased considerably.  Second, and as a result, the scale of hunting activity rose sharply.  Both consequences must have increased considerably the importance of the externalities associated with free hunting.  The property right system began to change, and it changed specifically in the direction required to take account of the economic effects made important by the fur trade.  The geographical or distributional evidence collected by Leacock indicates an unmistakable correlation between early centers of fur trade and the oldest and most complete development of the private hunting territory… .  An anonymous account written in 1723 states that the “principle of the Indians is to mark off the hunting ground selected by them by blazing the trees with their crest so that they may never encroach on each other… .  By the middle of the century these allotted territories were relatively stabilized.”

The principle that associates property right changes with the emergence of new and reevaluation of old harmful and beneficial effects suggests in this instance that the fur trade made it economic to encourage the husbanding of fur-bearing animals.  Husbanding requires the ability to prevent poaching and this, in turn, suggests that socioeconomic changes in property in hunting land will take place.  The chain of reasoning is consistent with the evidence cited above.  Is it inconsistent with the absence of similar rights in property among the southwestern Indians?

Two factors suggest that the thesis is consistent with the absence of similar rights among the Indians of the southwestern plains.  The first of these is that there were no plains animals of commercial importance comparable to the fur-bearing animals of the forest, at least not until cattle arrived with Europeans.  The second factor is that animals of the plains are primarily grazing species whose habit is to wander over wide tracts of land.  The value of establishing boundaries to private hunting territories is thus reduced by the relatively high cost of preventing the animals from moving to adjacent parcels.  Hence both the value and cost of establishing private hunting lands in the Southwest are such that we would expect little development along these lines.  The externality was just not worth taking into account.

The lands of the Labrador Peninsula shelter forest animals whose habits are considerably different from those of the plains.  Forest animals confine their territories to relatively small areas, so that the cost of internalizing the effects of husbanding these animals is considerably reduced.  This reduced cost, together with the higher commercial value of fur-bearing forest animals, made it productive to establish private hunting lands.  Frank G. Speck finds that family proprietorship among the Indians of the Peninsula included retaliation against trespass.  Animal resources were husbanded.  Sometimes conservation practices were carried on extensively.  Family hunting territories were divided into quarters.  Each year the family hunted in a different quarter in rotation, leaving a tract in the center as a sort of bank, not to be hunted over unless forced to do so by a shortage in the regular tract....

The Coalescence and Ownership of Property Rights [“Second Thesis”]:  I have argued that property rights arise when it becomes economic for those affected by externalities to internalize benefits and costs.  But I have not yet examined the forces which will govern the particular form of right ownership.  Several idealized forms of ownership must be distinguished at the outset.  These are communal ownership, private ownership, and state ownership.


By communal ownership, I shall mean a right which can be exercised by all members of the community.  Frequently the rights to till and to hunt the land have been communally owned.  The right to walk a city sidewalk is communally owned.  Communal ownership means that the community denies to the state or to individual citizens, the right to interfere with any person’s exercise of communally owned rights.  Private ownership implies that the community recognizes the right of the owner to exclude others from exercising the owner’s private rights.  State ownership implies that the state may exclude anyone from the use of a right as long as the state follows accepted political procedures for determining who may not use state-owned property.  I shall not examine in detail the alternative of state ownership.  The object of the analysis which follows is to discern some broad principles governing the development of property rights in communities oriented to private property.


It will be best to begin by considering a particularly useful example that focuses our attention on the problem of land ownership.  Suppose that land is communally owned.  Every person has the right to hunt, till, or mine the land.  This form of ownership fails to concentrate the cost associated with any person’s exercise of his communal right on that person.  If a person seeks to maximize the value of his communal rights, he will tend to overhunt and overwork the land because some of the costs of his doing so are borne by others.  The stock of game and the richness of the soil will be diminished too quickly.  It is conceivable that those who own these rights, i.e., every member of the community, can agree to curtail the rate at which they work the lands if negotiating and policing costs are zero.  Each can agree to abridge his rights.  It is obvious that the costs of reaching such an agreement will not be zero.  What is not obvious is just how large these costs may be.


Negotiating costs will be large because it is difficult for many persons to reach a mutually satisfactory agreement, especially when each hold-out has the right to work the land as fast as he pleases.  But, even if an agreement among all can be reached, we must yet take account of the costs of policing the agreement, and these may be large, also. ...  Communal property results in great externalities.  The full costs of the activities of an owner of a communal property right are not borne directly by him, nor can they be called to his attention easily by the willingness of others to pay him an appropriate sum....


The state, the courts, or the leaders of the community could attempt to internalize the external costs resulting from communal property by allowing private parcels owned by small groups with similar interests.  The logical groups in terms of similar interests, are, of course, the family and the individual.  ... The resulting private ownership of land will internalize many of the external costs associated with communal ownership, for now an owner, by virtue of his power to exclude others, can generally count on realizing the rewards associated with husbanding the game and increasing the fertility of his land.  This concentration of benefits and costs on owners creates incentives to utilize resources more efficiently.


But we have yet to contend with externalities.  Under the communal property system the maximization of the value of communal property rights will take place without regard to many costs, because the owner of a communal right cannot exclude others from enjoying the fruits of his efforts and because negotiation costs are too high for all to agree jointly on optimal behavior.  The development of private rights permits the owner to economize on the use of those resources from which he has the right to exclude others.  Much internalization is accomplished in this way.  But the owner of private rights to one parcel does not himself own the rights to the parcel of another private sector.  Since he cannot exclude others from their private rights to land, he has no direct incentive (in the absence of negotiations) to economize in the use of his land in a way that takes into account the effects he produces on the land rights of others.  If he constructs a dam on his land, he has no direct incentive to take into account the lower water levels produced on his neighbor’s land.


This is exactly the same kind of externality that we encountered with communal property rights, but it is present to a lesser degree.  Whereas no one had an incentive to store water on any land under the communal system, private owners now can take into account directly those benefits and costs to their land that accompany water storage.  But the ... partial concentration of benefits and costs that accompany private ownership is only part of the advantage this system offers.  The other part, and perhaps the most important, has escaped our notice.  The cost of negotiating over the remaining externalities will be reduced greatly.  Communal property rights allow anyone to use the land.  Under this system it becomes necessary for all to reach an agreement on land use.  But the externalities that accompany private ownership of property do not affect all owners, and, generally speaking, it will be necessary for only a few to reach an agreement that takes these effects into account.  The cost of negotiating an internalization of these effects is thereby reduced considerably.  The point is important enough to elucidate.


Suppose an owner of a communal land right, in the process of plowing a parcel of land, observes a second communal owner constructing a dam on adjacent land.  The farmer prefers to have the stream as it is, and so he asks the engineer to stop his construction.  The engineer says, “Pay me to stop.” The farmer replies, “I will be happy to pay you, but what can you guarantee in return?” The engineer answers, “I can guarantee you that I will not continue constructing the dam, but I cannot guarantee that another engineer will not take up the task because this is communal property; I have no right to exclude him.” What would be a simple negotiation between two persons under a private property arrangement turns out to be a rather complex negotiation between the farmer and everyone else.  

This is the basic explanation, I believe, for the preponderance of single rather than multiple owners of property.  Indeed, an increase in the number of owners is an increase in the communality of property and leads, generally, to an increase in the cost of internalizing.  The reduction in negotiating cost that accompanies the private right to exclude others allows most externalities to be internalized at rather low cost. ...
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS: DEMSETZ EXCERPT

Introductory Concepts

1.30. What does the author mean by “In the world of Robinson Crusoe property rights play no role.”? (p.30)   Why does he believe this to be true?

1.31. What does it mean to “internalize” an externality?  Can you think of an example of this from outside the reading?

Demsetz:  First Thesis

1.32. Why does the author believe that new property rights tend to arise from “the emergence of new or different beneficial and harmful effects”? (p.31)

1.33. The author’s first major thesis is that new property rights tend to develop “when the gains of internalization become larger than the cost of internalization.”  (p.31)  What does he mean by “gains of internalization.”?  What are possible costs of internalization?

1.34. To understand how the first thesis operates, it is helpful to work through his example of communal ownership.”er hunting among the Montagne tribe of Eastern Canada.  
(a) How were the animals originally allocated among the members of the tribe?  What externalities resulted from this allocation?  
(b) What took place that precipitated the changes in the way the system operated?  
(c) What change in the property system followed?  How does the author explain this change?

1.35. Why does the author believe that the tribes of the Southwestern U.S. did not adopt a system similar to that of the Montagne?

1.36. Can you tell a story similar to the author’s account of the Montagne that would explain:

(a) The development of regulations against air pollution?  
(b) The development of laws against sexual harassment?
(c) The decision in State v. Shack?
Demsetz:  Second Thesis
1.37. The author’s second thesis is that the tendency to internalize externalities will tend over time to result in property rights being held by individual private owners.  In deriving this thesis, he contrasts communal ownership, state ownership, and private ownership.  Can you give a common example of each that is not found in the excerpt?  

1.38. Demsetz claims that private property operates more efficiently than communal ownership for (at least) two important reasons:

(i) the members of the community will have trouble negotiating among themselves to achieve the optimal level of use of the resource.  
(ii) The members of the community will have trouble negotiating with other communities or outsiders to prevent interference with their rights and achieve useful bargains about allocating property rights.  
Try to come up with examples of each of these problems from your own experiences.   

1.39. In your experience, what ways do communities have of preventing anti-community behavior aside from bargaining or paying off the anti-social community members?  
1.40. If bargaining among members of a community is so difficult, how do private property systems get created at all?
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B.
Escaped Animals

1.  Overview  

Losing Property Rights, Abandonment, Loss or Escape:  In this second part of Unit One, we will explore the question of when owners of wild animals can lose their property rights.  Obviously, you can end your property interest in a wild animal by selling it or giving it to someone as a gift.  However, we will focus on situations where there is no such straightforward transaction and no clear recipient of rights to the animal but the owner no longer actually possesses it: cases where the animal escapes, is lost, or arguably is abandoned.


Abandonment:  You can voluntarily relinquish rights to any type of property simply by making a clear enough statement that you intend to do so.  For example, you can leave 2/3 of a pizza in the student lounge with a sign that says, “Please Eat” or you can leave a turtle your child brought home by a nearby lake wearing a tag that says, “Feel Free to Take This Irritating Reptile.”  The law is likely to treat property as abandoned even without a sign if the circumstances strongly suggest that the owner intends to give up her rights.  For example, when people in Miami put a big pile of yard waste and miscellaneous trash in their front yards for the County to haul away, anything in the pile is likely to be treated as abandoned and therefore fair game for anyone to take.


However, because our society tends to view most property rights as pretty strong, the law is not quick to assume that things you leave around are abandoned.  Even if owners are very careless, we generally want to see pretty strong evidence that they intended to relinquish their rights before we will treat property as abandoned.  For example, every year a few laptops are stolen in the Law Library and every year the librarians put up signs and send out e-mails advising students not to leave computers unattended.  However, many students will leave their laptops on library tables when they go to the restroom, even if it is late at night and nobody they know is nearby.  Is this reckless? Of course.  Will a court take seriously an argument that the owner in that situation abandoned the laptop, relinquishing property rights, and that therefore taking it was not theft?  Of course not.  Thus, abandonment is hard to prove absent some public statement or gesture by the former owner showing intent to give up property rights.


Escape or Loss: Ordinarily, owners of an object do not immediately lose property rights if they accidentally lose possession of it.  Most people are aware that if they “find” a lost object, they need to report it to the proper authorities who will try to locate the original owner.  Generally if the owner makes no claim, after some legally prescribed period of time, the finder will be awarded the object.  Sometimes if the object is strongly marked or if its ownership history is well-recorded, the original owner can get it back even if a long time has passed.  



As we will see, however, when a wild animal escapes, the law protects the original owner’s interests less strongly than if the item in question were a pocket watch or an engagement ring.  We will examine why this is so, keeping in mind that that there are a number of possible rules for handling property that is lost, then found, including:

· “Finders Keepers” (finder always keeps the object)
· Original owner always gets the object back.

· Finder gets property if original owner doesn’t claim after a certain amount of time

· Depending on a set of legal factors, could go to either original owner or finder

The question of when original owners retain property rights in lost or escaped wild animals is interesting but rarely of great social importance (but see Albers discussing the effects on the Colorado fox fur industry).  However, the problem of “escape” occurs in a wide variety of legal contexts, most notably regarding intellectual property in things like computer programs, movies, and songs.  When a radio station plays a song, is it fair to say the song has escaped its creator’s control and is now unowned?  You’ll see that the concepts we’ll study in this part of course are relevant to this and many other important questions of ownership. 
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
1.41. Why should people ever lose property rights in a wild animal once they own it?  Do you see any reasons to treat an escaped wild animal differently from a lost watch or car?  Can you think of a circumstance where it would be unfair to return an escaped animal to its original owner?

1.42. Look back at the cases we’ve already read.  Can you find any language in those cases that gives you some information about how we should treat escaped animals?  Are there any policies we’ve discussed that might be helpful?
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2.  Two Legal Approaches to the Problem of Escape

Glossary for Manning & Mullett

Animus revertendi:  The intention of returning.
Conversion:   Common law tort action arising out of the unauthorized use or alteration of another person’s personal property.

Defeasible:  Description of a property right that is capable of being lost under specified circumstances.
Excepted: Objected to an order or ruling of the lower court.

Ex-officio:  By reason of the office.  Refers in this context to a judge acting as a justice of the peace by reason of his office as judge.
Possessory warrant:  Procedure designed to quickly obtain possession of personal property wrongfully taken by another by fraud, violence, seduction or enticement.
Traverse:  Denial in pleadings of an allegation made by the other party.
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MANNING v. MITCHERSON

69 Ga. 447 (1882)

Crawford, J.  
Mrs. Catherine Mitcherson sued out a possessory warrant against Patrick Manning to recover possession of a canary bird.  On the trial before the justice, the evidence on behalf of the plaintiff was, in brief, as follows: The bird was obtained by the plaintiff from the captain of a vessel, and had been in her possession for about two years.  On the 27th of December, 1881, it was discovered that the bird was missing, and the door of the cage in which it was kept was found open.  It had escaped once before, and after remaining away for a day or two had returned.  It was called “Sweet,” and would answer to its name.  It had a peculiar crest on its head, which was divided in the middle by Mrs. Mitcherson, as one would part a person's hair.  On January 2, 1882, plaintiff learned that the bird was in possession of Manning, and sent to him for it, but the latter refused to deliver possession.  The identity of “Sweet” was very positively sworn to by the plaintiff and other witnesses on her behalf.  ...


The evidence on behalf of defendant was, in brief, as follows: Mrs. Manning had a canary bird which was either this bird or so closely resembled it that they could not be distinguished, the resemblance extending even to the peculiar mode of wearing its head-feathers.  Defendant's bird escaped in October, 1881.  On the night of January 1, 1882, one Brown returned to her the bird in dispute, it having entered his kitchen and been caught by one of his servants.  The witnesses on behalf of defendant, all testified that to the best of their knowledge and belief this was her bird.  ...  [C]ounsel for plaintiff, by consent, made the following statement... : "Mr. Manning told me that Mrs. Mitcherson had demanded the bird in such an insolent manner as to hurt his feelings very deeply, that if she had asked for the bird in a decent way, she could have had ‘her’ bird, or ‘the’ bird, I am not certain which, without any trouble, but that she had treated him in the matter as though he was not worthy to walk on the same ground with her folks.”


The justice awarded possession to the plaintiff.  Defendant carried the case by certiorari to the superior court, where the judgment of the magistrate was affirmed, and defendant excepted.


The law of Georgia is, that to have property in animals, birds and fishes which are wild by nature, one must have them within his actual possession, custody or control, and this he may do by taming, domesticating, or confining them.


The answer of the ex-officio justice of the peace in this case, the same being a certiorari and no traverse thereof, must be taken as true, and it says, that according to the testimony of all the witnesses the bird in controversy was shown to have been tamed.  It was also testified that it had been in the possession of the plaintiff in the warrant about two years; that it knew its name, and when called by its owner, would answer the call; that it had left its cage on one occasion, and after having been gone a day or two returned; that on the 27th day of December, before the preceding new year's day, it was missing from its cage, and on the latter day it was received and taken possession of by the defendant, who had kept it in confinement ever since.


Under this evidence, there does not seem to be any question of sufficient possession and dominion over this bird, to create a property right in the plaintiff. To say that if one has a canary bird, mocking bird, parrot, or any other bird so kept and it should accidentally escape from its cage to the street, or to a neighboring house, that the first person who caught it would be its owner, is wholly at variance with our views of right and justice.  To hold that the traveling organist with his attendant monkey, if it should slip its collar, and go at will out of his immediate possession and control, and be captured by another person, that he would be the true owner and the organist lose all claim to it, is hardly to be expected; or that the wild animals of a menagerie, should they escape from their owner's immediate possession, would belong to the first person who should subject them to his dominion.  Under the law and the testimony, there was no error in dismissing the certiorari.  Judgment affirmed.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
1.43. In Manning, the defendant and the plaintiff disagreed on the facts.  Whose version did the magistrate accept?   How does the Georgia Supreme Court deal with the existence of two versions of the facts?  
1.44. Why do you think this case got to the Georgia Supreme Court?
1.45.
What is the significance to the opinion of the paragraph above that begins “The law of Georgia....”  
1.46. What factors does the Manning court seem to find relevant to determine ownership of an escaped animal.  For each factor, try to identify policy reasons that support making the factor part of the legal rule. 

1.47. What is the significance of the references at the end of the opinion to the organ grinder’s monkey and to the menagerie.  Why might the court believe that reversing the lower courts would be “wholly at variance with our views of right and justice”?
1.48. Amy captures a squirrel, which she keeps in the basement of her house.  She names it “Rocky” and trains it sufficiently that it will come to her when she calls it by name.  After living in Amy’s basement for three months, the squirrel escapes.  Brandon finds the squirrel across town from Amy’s house.  Charmed by its obvious comfort with humans, he takes it home and builds a large cage for it. Two months later, Amy discovers Rocky in Brandon’s possession and positively identifies him from his markings and because he still responds to his name.  How would you state the holding of Manning if you were representing Amy?  How would you state it if you were representing Brandon?  Be prepared to explain why your statement of the holding helps your client.
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Comparison Box #3

	
	HARBOR SEAL
	CALIFORNIA SEA LION

	Picture
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	Phylum/Class
	Vertebrates/Mammals
	Vertebrates/Mammals

	Order/Suborder
	Carnivores/Pinnipeds
	Carnivores/Pinnipeds

	Family/Genus
	Earless seal/Phoca (common and spotted seals)
	Eared seal/Zalophus (sea lions)

	U.S. Range
	West Coast:  Southern Alaska to San Diego; East Coast:  Maine to Maryland
	Southern Alaska to San Diego

	Fur Color
	Spotted, dark on light background or light on dark background
	Dark brown; juveniles are light gray or silver

	Physical Description
	Distinct v-shaped nostrils, no external ears, small flippers, blubber-filled appearance
	Muscular neck, chest, and shoulders, large flippers, external ears

	Average Size
	Males up to 6 feet long, 120-370 pounds
	Males up to 8 feet long, 770 pounds

	Mating
	Thought to be polygamous
	Polygamous

	Gestation Period
	9-11 months
	9 months

	Average Litter
	1 pup
	1 pup

	
	HARBOR SEAL
	CALIFORNIA SEA LION

	Social Grouping
	Solitary, but breed and “haul out” of the water in loosely organized groups
	Extremely gregarious and form groups while swimming and mating; mate in rookeries of hundreds of individuals

	Diet
	Prey fish such as anchovy, sea bass, herring, cod, mackerel, and whiting; occasionally shrimp, crabs, mollusks, squid
	Prey fish such as salmon, hake, whiting, anchovy, herring, and dogfish; also squid and clams

	Predators
	Killer whales, large sharks, polar bears, humans
	Killer whales, large sharks, humans

	Interactions with Humans
	Although they are not a threatened species, it is currently illegal to hunt seals in the U.S., and Americans often protest seal hunting in other countries
	Sea lions are popular attractions in zoos and circuses, and are well-known for performing tricks like balancing a ball on their noses.
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MULLETT v. BRADLEY

24 Misc. 695 (N.Y. App. Div. 1898)

BEEKMAN, P. J. : This action is brought to recover damages for the alleged conversion of a sea lion, of which the plaintiff claimed to be the owner, a claim which the defendant, who has the animal in his possession, refused to recognize when the plaintiff made his demand for its return.



It appears that the plaintiff is engaged in the business of capturing such animals and disposing of them to those who are interested in having them for purposes of exhibition.  They are caught at the islands of Santa Barbara, near San Francisco, and are then transported by rail across the continent to the east.  The animal in question was one of a lot which had been obtained in this manner, and all were intended to fill an order which the plaintiff had received from persons in this city.  The one in question, however, was rejected owing to certain blemishes caused by wounds which it had received while being captured, and the plaintiff continued to retain his ownership of it until its escape from his control as hereinafter stated.  Having the animal thus thrown back upon his hands, the plaintiff placed it temporarily at Glen Island, on Long Island Sound, from which place, within a few days after its arrival there, it disappeared, and the plaintiff, quite reasonably assuming that he had no prospect of ever finding it, made no effort for its recapture.  This took place during the first week of July, 1896.  It was not until about a year afterwards that he discovered it in the possession of the defendant, and having satisfied himself of its identity, which it may be said is not in dispute here, demanded its surrender, which was refused.  It then appeared that the defendant had purchased the animal from a fisherman, who, on the 20th day of July, had captured it in a fish-pound which had been set in the ocean at a point on the New Jersey coast over seventy miles from the city of New York.  The complaint was dismissed on the merits in the court below, and the sole question involved in this appeal is whether the plaintiff had lost his right of property in the sea lion by reason of its escape from his control.



It is conceded that sea lions are ferae naturae, and that the law applies which holds that only a qualified right of property can be acquired in them, a right which is wholly lost when, escaping from their captor, without any intention of returning, they resume their former freedom.  2 Blackst. Com. 392; 2 Kent’s Com. 348; Gillet v. Mason, 7 Johns. 16; Amory v. Flyn, 10 Johns. 102; Goff v. Kilts, 15 Wend. 550.  43)Blackstone, referring to animals ferae naturae, says that 

These are no longer the property of a man, than while they continue in his keeping or actual possession; but if at any time they regain their natural liberty, his property instantly ceases; unless they have animus revertendi, which is only to be known by their usual custom of returning.

It is said by Chancellor Kent, 

Animals ferae naturae so long as they are reclaimed by the art and power of man, are also the subject of a qualified property; but when they are abandoned, or escape, and return to their natural liberty and ferocity, without the animus revertendi, the property in them ceases.

But it is quite unnecessary to multiply citations of authority for a proposition of law so well settled and familiar as this.  It is quite apparent that the case under consideration comes directly within it.  The sea lion in question was ferae naturae, and the right of property which the plaintiff had undoubtedly acquired in it was, so to speak, defeasible and always contingent upon his maintaining his right by actual control when opposed by a disposition on its part to escape and resume its former freedom of action.  The evidence not only fails to show that there was any animus revertendi on its part, but the inference from the facts proven is quite the contrary.  Blackstone states, as we have seen, that an intention to return, where such animals depart from the immediate control of the owner “is only to be known by their usual custom of returning.”  Of course, the evidence here shows that there was no such custom, but that, at the earliest opportunity, the animal broke away from restraint, and had traveled over seventy miles from its place of confinement when it was captured, some two weeks afterwards.  The necessary inference, from the history of its movements, is that there was decidedly no intention on its part of returning to its place of captivity or of again submitting itself to the domination of the plaintiff.



But it is contended on the part of the plaintiff that there can be no return of such an animal to its natural liberty until it has either reached its native place or, at least, a place where the conditions of existence are normal and suitable to its habits and physical requirements.  In support of this claim evidence was given tending to show that sea lions of this character are not found on the Atlantic coast, but only on the Pacific, from the bay of San Francisco to St. Nicholas Island, or from latitude 30( north to 36( north, and that, for some reasons not fully explained, the conditions along the Atlantic coast are not favorable to their existence here in a wild state.



However that may be, I do not think that the rule is subject to any such sweeping qualification.  The natural liberty to which the law refers means that which the animal formerly enjoyed, namely, to provide for itself, in the broadest sense which the phrase may be used.  In short, it may be said to have regained its natural liberty when, by its own volition, it has escaped from all artificial restraint and is free to follow the bent of its natural inclination. Such, it seems to us, was the case here.



It is also suggested by the counsel for the defendant that the animal had been abandoned by the plaintiffs as he made no effort to regain it after its loss, but immediately surrendered all hope of its recovery, and the case of Buster v. Newkirk, 20 Johns. 75, is referred to as, at least, illustrating the genera1 principle on which he founds his claim.  See also Story on Sales, §211.  It is, however, unnecessary to pass upon this, in view of the conclusion to which we have come that the plaintiff had lost his right of property in the sea lion by reason of the fact that it had regained its natural liberty without any intention of returning.  The case was correctly decided by the trial justice, and the judgment must, therefore, be affirmed. 
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
1.49. How would Mullett be resolved under the factors identified as relevant in Manning?  

1.50. What factors does the Mullett court find relevant to determine ownership of an escaped animal.  How does it apply those factors to the facts of the case? For each factor, try to identify policy reasons that support making the factor part of the legal rule.  

1.51. How would Manning be resolved under the factors identified as relevant in Mullett?  
1.52. Which is the stronger case for returning the escaped animal to its owner, Manning or Mullett?  Why?

1.53. Can you develop a rule for determining ownership of escaped animals that is consistent with both Manning & Mullett?  
[image: image41.wmf]      [image: image42.wmf]      [image: image43.wmf]
[* Prof’s Note: 1 rod = 5.5 yards = 16.5 feet, so 80 rods = 1320 feet = a quarter mile.]
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